RECEIVED

Jul 08 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM JASPER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

C. Stephen Bennett, Special Referee

Appellate Case No. 2024-000006

Bullard & Son, Inc., d/b/a Lowcountry Medical Linens, Respondent,

v.

Ridgeland Nursing Center, Inc., Ridgeland NC, LLC, and SC
OPCO, LLC, Defendants,

Of whom

SC OPCO, LLC is the Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT SC OPCO, LLC

MAYNARD NEXSEN, PC

Kirsten E. Small, SC Bar No. 75681
104 South Main Street, 9th Floor
Greenville, SC 29601
Telephone: 864.370.2211
KSmall@maynardnexsen.com

Kyle A. Brannon, SC Bar No. 100550
Jennifer J. Hollingsworth, SC Bar No. 73535

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. Did the Special Master err in denying Appellant SC OPCO's motion to set aside default and for new trial, where SC OPCO's default was due to a mistake of fact?
- II. Did the Special Master err in awarding damages pursuant to the contract, where SC OPCO was neither a party to the contract nor subject to liability under settled principles of successor liability?
- III. Did the Special Master err in awarding fees based on the contingency fee agreement between Respondent and its counsel, where the settled law is that the agreement between attorney and client does not control the determination of reasonable fees pursuant to a contractual fee provision?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant SC OPCO, LLC (“SC OPCO”) appeals orders entered by the Jasper County Court of Common Pleas, pursuant to which SC OPCO was ordered to pay \$154,178.33 in damages, early termination penalties, and attorneys’ fees to Respondent Bullard & Sons, Inc. d/b/a Lowcountry Medical Linens (“Bullard”). The award was made under a contract to which SC OPCO is neither a party, nor an assignee, nor a successor. Even if SC OPCO were bound by the terms of the contract (which it is not), the damages and attorneys’ fees awarded by the Special Referee are grossly excessive and unsupported in fact or law. At most, SC OPCO is potentially responsible in *quantum meruit* for the value of certain services actually provided to it.

A. Factual Background

This matter concerns an agreement (the “Contract”) for Bullard to provide linen services to Ridgeland Nursing Center in Ridgeland, South Carolina (the “Facility”). The Contract, which was attached as Exhibit A to Bullard’s Complaint, was executed on March 3, 2020. (R. p. 49 (Contract).) At that time, the Facility was owned and operated by Ridgeland Nursing Center, Inc. (“RNC, Inc.”) and Ridgeland NC, LLC (together with RNC, Inc., “Ridgeland”).

Under the Contract, Bullard was to provide linen services to Ridgeland for period of 60 months (five years, or 260 weeks) beginning April 1, 2020. (*Id.*) The Contract provides, *inter alia*, that invoices over 30 days “will be subject to a 1.5% late charge (18% per annum)” and that Bullard could recover attorneys’ fees incurred in collecting late balances. (*Id.*) The Contract allowed Bullard—but not Ridgeland—to cancel the

agreement at any time without penalty, subject only to 30 days' notice. (*Id.*) Ridgeland, in contrast, could terminate the Contract only for cause or by incurring an early termination penalty of "50% of the rental rate times the number of weeks left in the agreement." (*Id.*) However, nothing in the Contract establishes the "rental rate" applicable to this early termination provision. The Contract also provides that it "shall enure [sic] to the benefit of any successors or assignees." (*Id.*)

On November 1, 2021, SC OPCO purchased Ridgeland's assets and took over operation of the Facility. (R. pp. 83-84 (Affidavit of Joe Neuman ("Neuman Aff.")) at ¶¶ 2, 4.) In the transaction, SC OPCO did not assume any liabilities or contractual obligations of Ridgeland. (R. p. 84 (Neuman Aff. ¶ 4).) There is no affiliation between SC OPCO and Ridgeland. (*Id.*)

Between February 28, 2022 and June 22, 2022, Bullard submitted 50 invoices to the Facility for linen services totaling \$20,311.36. (R. pp. 45 (Compl. ¶ 16).)

B. Procedural History

Bullard filed its Complaint on January 5, 2023, asserting claims for breach of contract and unjust enrichment/*quantum meruit* against RNC, Inc.; Ridgeland NC, LLC ; and SC OPCO. (R. pp. 44-48 (Complaint).) The Complaint alleged that Bullard and "Ridgeland Nursing Center" had entered into the Contract and that Bullard had invoiced Ridgeland Nursing Center for services rendered between February 28, 2022 and June 22, 2022. (R. pp. 45-47 (Compl. ¶¶ 8, 14-16).) The Complaint went on to allege that

“Defendants” had breached the Contract by failing to pay those invoices.¹ (R. p. 47 (Compl. ¶ 17).) In addition to \$20,311.36 for the unpaid invoices, Bullard’s breach of contract claim sought recovery of:

- \$1,243.83 for “lost, unreturned inventory from the June 27, 2022 invoice”;
- \$2,266.59 for “late charges through December 31, 2022 that continues to accrue interest at 18% per annum”;
- an early termination penalty of \$90,353.85; and
- attorneys’ fees.

(R. p. 47 (Compl. ¶ 18).)

The Complaint alleges no facts to support Bullard’s claim for the early termination penalty. In particular, the Complaint never alleges that the Contract was terminated or the date on which such termination allegedly occurred. It also fails to allege the number of weeks remaining in the Contract or the weekly rental rate used to calculate the early termination penalty.

The Complaint asserted a second cause of action for unjust enrichment/*quantum meruit*. (R. p. 48 (Compl. ¶¶ 19-23).) This claim sought recovery only for the value of the unpaid invoices and the unreturned items. (*Id.* (Compl. ¶ 23).) The unjust enrichment/*quantum meruit* claim does not seek recovery of late charges, the early termination penalty, or attorneys’ fees.

Although both counts of the Complaint are alleged against “All Defendants,” SC

¹ The invoices were listed in the Complaint but were not attached as exhibits. Furthermore, there is no indication that the invoices were entered as exhibits during the damages hearing conducted by the Special Referee.

OPCO is mentioned only in the jurisdictional allegations, where it is described in exactly the same manner as RNC, Inc. and Ridgeland NC, LLC, *i.e.*, as “own[ing] property and transact[ing] business in Jasper County through the Ridgeland Nursing Center.” (R. p. 44 (Compl. ¶¶ 2-4).) The Complaint does not allege that SC OPCO is a signatory to the Contract; in fact, it alleges that the Contract is between Bullard and “Ridgeland Nursing Center.” (R. p. 45 (Compl. ¶ 8).) The Complaint also fails to allege any facts concerning the relationship between SC OPCO and the other two Defendants—not even that SC OPCO is the current operator of the Facility. In particular, the Complaint does not allege facts suggesting that the Contract was assigned to SC OPCO or that SC OPCO is bound by the Contract as a successor of either RNC, Inc., or Ridgeland NC, LLC.

The Complaint was served on SC OPCO through its registered agent, Cogency Global, Inc., on January 6, 2024. (R. p. 50 (Affidavit of Service on SC OPCO).) On January 11, 2023, the Complaint was served on Ridgeland NC, LLC through its Administrator, Janelle Greene. (R. p. 51 (Affidavit of Service on Ridgeland NC, LLC).) No affidavit of service was ever filed as to RNC, Inc.

On February 14, 2023, Bullard filed affidavits of default as to SC OPCO and Ridgeland NC, LLC. (R. pp. 52-55; 56-59 (Affidavit of Default as to SC OPCO; Affidavit of Default as to Ridgeland NC, LLC).) No affidavit of default was filed as to RNC, Inc. Four days later, on February 18, 2023, the matter was referred to Special Referee C. Stephen Bennett, Esquire. (R. pp. 1-3 (Order of Reference to Special Referee).) On March 1, 2023, Entries and Orders of Default were filed as to SC OPCO and Ridgeland NC, LLC. (R. pp. 4-6; 7-10 (Entry and Order of Default as to SC OPCO; Entry and Order of Default

as to Ridgeland NC, LLC.) No default was entered or ordered as to RNC, Inc.

The Special Referee conducted a damages hearing on April 25, 2023. (R. p. 11 (Judgment, at 1).) According to the Judgment, notice of the hearing was provided to SC OPCO and Ridgeland NC, LLC “by first class mail in compliance with Rule 55, SCRCF.”² (R. p. 14 (Judgment, at 4).) No notice of this hearing was filed with the Court, and Bullard did not file any certificates of service for the notice of hearing.

The Judgment states that the Special Referee considered “numerous exhibits and ... heard testimony from Perry Bullard.” (R. p. 15 (Judgment, at 5).) However, the damages hearing was not transcribed and the exhibits were not filed on the Public Index, leaving the text of the Judgment as the only source of information regarding the existence of factual support for the damages award. The Judgment provides the following descriptions of the exhibits submitted in support of Bullard’s damages:

- Exhibit 2 was a calculation of the interest owed on the unpaid invoices as of March 31, 2023;
- Exhibit 3 set forth Bullard’s calculation of the early termination penalty;
- Exhibit 4 showed that Bullard incurred costs of \$500.54 in bringing this action.

(R. pp. 15-16 (Judgment, at 5-6).)

According to the Judgment, Exhibit 3 showed that “50% of the early termination weekly amount (\$623.13) times the number of weeks (145 weeks) left in the [Contract], ... equals \$90,353.85.” (R. p. 16 (Judgment, at 6).) The Special Referee also awarded

² Although the Judgment refers to “Ex. 1” in support of this finding, no exhibits were attached to the Judgment or otherwise filed on the Public Index.

attorneys’ fees, stating: “Plaintiff hired counsel to represent it on a 33 1/3% contingent fee arrangement, which totals \$38,419.45.” (R. p. 16 (Judgment, at 6).) The Judgment contained no findings regarding the reasonableness of this fee.

Altogether, the Special Referee awarded judgment against SC OPCO and Ridgeland NC, LLC in the total amount of \$154,178.33, consisting of the following amounts:

Item	Amount
Unpaid Invoices	\$20,311.36
1.5% Late Charge	\$3,349.30
Unreturned Products	\$1,243.83
Early Termination Penalty	\$90,353.85
Attorney’s Fees	\$38,419.45
Costs	\$500.54
Total:	\$154,178.33

SC OPCO learned of the status of the litigation through counsel, who found the information on the Public Index for Jasper County in the course of work for SC OPCO on a different matter. (R. p. 85 (Neuman Aff. ¶ 12).) Counsel for SC OPCO promptly reached out to Bullard’s counsel, who responded on May 17, 2023 and provided a copy of the Judgment, which had not yet been entered on the Public Index. (R. pp. 73-82 (Ex. A to SC OPCO’s Notice of Motions and Motions (1) to Set Aside Default; and (2) for New Trial (“Mot. to Set Aside”)).) Prior to that time, SC OPCO had no knowledge of the Judgment, a copy of which had not been served on it. (R. p. 86 (Neuman Aff. ¶ 13).)

SC OPCO filed its Motion to Set Aside on May 25, 2023, less than ten days after first learning that a judgment had been submitted to the court—and in fact, on the same

day the Judgment was actually entered on the Public Index. In support of the Motion to Set Aside, SC OPCO submitted the affidavit of Mr. Neuman, stating that letters Bullard’s counsel sent to the Facility led to SC OPCO’s confusion and good-faith mistake of fact regarding the need to respond to the litigation. (R. p. 84 (Neuman Aff. ¶ 8).) On or about January 11, 2023, the Facility received a letter from Bullard’s counsel addressed to Ray Williams as registered agent for RNC, Inc. (the “January 2023 Letter”).³ (R. p. 85 (Neuman Aff. ¶ 9).) The letter enclosed a copy of the Summons and Complaint, but the correspondence was directed to RNC, Inc., with no reference to SC OPCO.⁴ (*Id.*) At the time, this made sense to SC OPCO because if Bullard had a contract it sought to enforce, it was not with SC OPCO. (*Id.*) Accordingly, SC OPCO did not realize it was expected to take action in response to the January 2023 Letter. (*Id.*)

On or about April 4, 2023, the Facility received a second letter from Bullard’s counsel, this time addressed to “Jerry Patton, Registered Agent, Sheri Boyles, Administrator, Janelle Green, Administrator, Ridgeland NC, LLC, 1516 Grays Hwy., Ridgeland, SC 29936” (the “April 2023 Letter”).⁵ (R. p. 85 (Neuman Aff. ¶ 10).) The April 2023 Letter enclosed a copy of a Notice of Hearing in this matter set for April 25, 2023.

³ A “Business Entities Search” on the website for the South Carolina Secretary of State for “Ridgeland Nursing Center, Inc.” shows that RNC, Inc. is in good standing and that Ray Williams is its registered agent. *See* <https://businessfilings.sc.gov/BusinessFiling/Entity/Profile/afac3849-0d2b-44d6-ad77-22a453e701b1> (last visited Mar. 4, 2024).

⁴ As noted above, no affidavit of service was ever filed as to RNC, Inc.

⁵ A “Business Entities Search” on the website for the South Carolina Secretary of State for “Ridgeland NC, LLC” shows that Ridgeland NC, LLC is in good standing and that Jerry Patton is its registered agent. *See* <https://businessfilings.sc.gov/BusinessFiling/Entity/Profile/f919f751-8976-48e2-a2d8-95e556744945> (last visited Mar. 4, 2024).

(*Id.*) Again, it made sense that the letter was not addressed to SC OPCO, which did not have a contract with Bullard. (*Id.*)

Thus, both the January 2023 Letter and the April 2023 Letter concerned this litigation, but neither was addressed to SC OPCO. The letters were, instead, directed to the registered agents for RNC, Inc. and Ridgeland NC, LLC. Additionally, the letters were sent to the Facility even though each registered agent's address for service of process is *not* the Facility's address. No letters, pleadings, or notices concerning this litigation were ever delivered to SC OPCO at the Facility; any communications directed to SC OPCO were sent to SC OPCO's registered agent *at the registered agent's address*. (R. p. 85 (Neuman Aff. ¶ 11); R. p. 50 (Affidavit of Service on SC OPCO); R. p. 97 (Notice of Hearing to SC OPCO).) These circumstances resulted in SC OPCO's confusion and good-faith mistake of fact was that there was no expectation that SC OPCO was to respond to any of this correspondence. (R. p. 84 (Neuman Aff. ¶ 8).)

Bullard opposed the Motion to Set Aside. Exhibit 1 to Bullard's Opposition was a Notice of Hearing informing SC OPCO of the damages hearing scheduled for April 25, 2023. (R. pp. 97-98 (Ex. 1 to Opp. to Mot. to Set Aside).) The Certificate of Service states that the Notice of Hearing was sent via first-class mail to SC OPCO's registered agent, not to SC OPCO at the Facility. (R. p. 98.)

The Special Referee conducted a virtual hearing on the Motion to Set Aside on July 20, 2023. (R. pp. 166-200 (Hrg. Transcript).) Thereafter, on September 13, 2023, the Special Referee entered an order denying the Motion to Set Aside. (R. pp. 19-31 (Order Denying Mot. to Set Aside).) The Order noted SC OPCO's statement that it "purchased the assets

of Ridgeland Nursing Center but not its liabilities or contracts” and that it was not aware of the terms of the Contract. (R. p. 20 (Order Denying Mot. to Set Aside, at 2).) The Order also stated that “Sheri Boyles, who signed the agreement and had knowledge of its terms, remained employed by SC OPCO until May 2022.” (*Id.*)

The Special Referee concluded that SC OPCO had failed to show a mistake of fact as required for relief from a default judgment under Rule 60(b), SCRCF. (R. p. 22 (Order Denying Mot. to Set Aside, at 4).) Specifically, the Special Referee rejected SC OPCO’s contention that it had made an honest mistake of fact in believing that it was not required to respond to the Complaint because it was not a party to the Contract, had not assumed Ridgeland’s liabilities, and was not a primary defendant in the litigation. (R. pp. 22-24 (Order Denying Mot. to Set Aside, at 4-6).) The Special Referee also found that SC OPCO had not acted promptly because it had not monitored the progress of the case. (R. p. 25 (Order Denying Mot. to Set Aside, at 7).)

The Special Referee also rejected SC OPCO’s arguments that it had meritorious defenses, in that (1) it was not a party to the Contract; and (2) the attorneys’ fee award was unreasonable. (R. p. 26 (Order Denying Mot. to Set Aside, at 8).) The Special Referee primarily reasoned that because SC OPCO had accepted services from Bullard and had received invoices for those services, it must have known it was bound to the terms of the Contract. The Special Referee repeatedly emphasized that SC OPCO should not be able to avoid paying for services it had actually received. However, the Special Referee did not explain why receiving services from Bullard should bind SC OPCO to all Contract terms, including the provisions for the early termination penalty and attorneys’ fees,

rather than simply obligating SC OPCO to pay in *quantum meruit* for the value of the services actually received.⁶

The Special Referee also rejected SC OPCO's argument that it was unreasonable to award attorneys' fees based on the contingency fee agreement between Bullard and its counsel. The Special Referee first rejected SC OPCO's reliance on *Glasscock v. Glasscock*, 304 S.C. 158, 403 S.E.2d 313 (1991), which sets forth the factors that should govern the determination of a reasonable attorney's fee, on the grounds that *Glasscock* had expressly disapproved the use of percentage fees in domestic cases. (R. p. 27 (Order Denying Mot. to Set Aside, at 9).) The Special Referee went on to state that he would have reached the same result by applying the *Glasscock* factors, although without identifying or discussing the application of any specific factor. (R. p. 28 (Order Denying Mot. to Set Aside, at 10).) The Special Referee also stated, incorrectly, that this case "has been pending for over a year-and-a-half," when in truth it had only been pending for nine months.⁷ (*Id.*)

SC OPCO timely moved for reconsideration under Rule 59(e), SCRCP. (R. pp. 112-132 (Motion to Alter or Amend Order Denying Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment and Motion for New Trial ("Mot. for Reconsideration")).) SC OPCO argued that

⁶ Notably, the Special Referee rejected SC OPCO's argument that it had not acquired Ridgeland's contractual liabilities by, again, pointing to the services actually received from Bullard, stating: "This is not about a pre-existing liability [*i.e.*, under the Contract]. It is about services rendered to SC OPCO after it purchased the facility." (R. p. 27 (Order Denying Mot. to Set Aside, at 9).) As this statement appears to recognize, that SC OPCO might be responsible in *quantum meruit* for the value of services rendered does not mean that it is subject to Ridgeland's "pre-existing liability" under the terms of the Contract.

⁷ The Complaint was filed on January 5, 2023, and the Order Denying the Motion to Set Aside was entered on September 13, 2023.

reconsideration was warranted because Bullard had not presented any evidence to counter the sworn affidavit submitted on behalf of SC OPCO. (R. p. 117 (Mot. for Reconsideration, at 6).) SC OPCO also argued that the Special Referee erred in relying on *Equitable Trust Company of Columbia v. Columbia National Bank*, 145 S.C. 91, 142 S.E. 811 (1928), because that case involved knowledge imputed through a corporate agent or officer, not a corporation's successor liability. (R. p. 118 (Mot. for Reconsideration, at 7).)

Further on the issue of successor liability, SC OPCO pointed out a core flaw in the Special Referee's reasoning, namely, that it equated continued receipt of services with knowledge and acceptance of the terms of the Contract. SC OPCO argued that the Special Referee's reasoning ran counter to settled principles of successor liability, under which "mere continuation" must be established through proof of commonality of ownership, not merely of personnel or of operations. (R. p. 119 (Mot. for Reconsideration, at 8).)

SC OPCO also argued that Bullard was not entitled to recovery of the early termination penalty because it had not alleged or proved that SC OPCO had ever terminated the Contract. (R. pp. 120-121 (Mot. for Reconsideration, at 9-10).) SC OPCO also pointed out the punitive nature of the early termination penalty, which was four times the amount of actual damages awarded to Bullard. (R. pp. 121-122 (Mot. for Reconsideration at 10-11).)

In its opposition to the Motion for Reconsideration, Bullard offered for the first time a June 21, 2022 email from an employee of SC OPCO, stating that SC OPCO would be doing its linens in-house and no longer needed Bullard's services. (R. p. 151 (Ex. A to Opp. to Mot. for Reconsideration).) The email refers to Bullard's "services" but does not

mention the Contract.

By order entered on December 7, 2023, the Special Referee denied SC OPCO's Motion for Reconsideration. (R. pp. 32-42 (Order Denying Mot. for Reconsideration).) SC OPCO timely filed its Notice of Appeal on January 2, 2024. (R. pp. 201-202 (Notice of Appeal).)

ARGUMENT

I. SC OPCO Is Entitled to Relief from the Judgment

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