**RECEIVED**

**Jun 24 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM JASPER COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

C. Stephen Bennett, Special Referee

Appellate Case No. 2024-000006

Bullard & Son, Inc., d/b/a Lowcountry Medical Linens,.....Respondent,

v.

Ridgeland Nursing Center, Inc., Ridgeland NC, LLC, and SC OPCO, LLC, Defendants,

Of which SC OPCO, LLC is the.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

BARNES LAW FIRM, LLC  
Kathleen C. Barnes, SC Bar No. 78854  
William F. Barnes, III, SC Bar No. 78220  
P.O. Box 897  
Hampton, SC 29924  
803-943-4529  
kbarnes@barneslawfirm.com  
wbarnes@barneslawfirm.com

*Attorneys for Respondent*

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

The evidence supports the Special Referee’s holding that any “mistake” was not credible or reasonable. (R. pp. 22-25). SC OPCO should have expected a lawsuit in this case because it ignored 50 invoices sent over four months. SC OPCO is a sophisticated, multi-state entity that is subject to state and federal regulations. At the time this case was filed and served, SC OPCO had just been served with legal process in another case. (R. pp. 100-108). The Complaint alleges the breach of contract action against “All Defendants.” (R. p. 45). The summons says that SC OPCO is “required” to answer and failure to answer will result in default judgment. (R. p. 43). These all support the Special Referee’s holding that “SC OPCO’s own conscious choice to ignore valid legal process does not warrant relief under Rule 60(b).” (R. p. 24).

SC OPCO points to 4 things in support of its argument—it is not a party to the Contract, it purchased assets and not liabilities, it is not the “primary defendant,” and it received letters addressed to other defendants regarding the lawsuit. (Br. of App. pp. 15-16). None of these alter

the law that requires a properly served, named defendant to answer a lawsuit. Further, SC OPCO fails to cite a single authority finding mistake of fact in a similar situation.<sup>5</sup>

First, that SC OPCO is or is not a party to the Contract has nothing to do with whether it is required to file an answer. A defendant who believes that it is not a proper party or that a cause of action filed against it is wrong must file an answer or a motion to dismiss. Rule 12, SCRCF. It cannot ignore the complaint based on a subjective belief of the merits of the lawsuit.

Second, that SC OPCO purchased assets and liabilities has nothing to do with whether it is required to file an answer, for the same reason stated above. Further, it is a legally incorrect argument in this scenario. The “liabilities” at issue are those of SC OPCO—not of a predecessor. The linen services were provided to the facility when SC OPCO owned it. SC OPCO is liable for those services. Regardless, the Court should affirm on this argument under the law of the case. The Special Referee held that, because SC OPCO did not give Lowcountry notice of its purchase and accepted the linen services under the Contract, it is bound to it under equitable estoppel. (R. p.35). Because SC OPCO did not appeal that ruling, it is the law of the case. *Shirley’s Iron Works, Inc. v. City of Union*, 403 S.C. 560, 573, 743 S.E.2d 778, 785 (2013).

Third, there is no such thing as a legal distinction between a “primary defendant” and any other defendant. (Br. of App. p. 16). SC OPCO is named as a defendant and is required to answer. Rule 12, SCRCF.

---

<sup>5</sup> The sole authority SC OPCO cites in its mistake argument is *Columbia Pools, Inc. v. Galvin*, 288 S.C. 59, 339 S.E.2d 524 (Ct. App. 1986). (Br. of App. pp. 15-16). That case is distinguishable. Galvin received service of process on March 3 but “mistakenly” told his attorney he received it on March 4. *Id.* at 60, 339 S.E.2d at 524. The attorney used that date to calculate the time for serving an answer but actually served it a day late. *Id.* If March 4 had been correct, the answer would have been timely. *Id.* The date a defendant received service is a fact, and the defendant in *Columbia Pools* actually filed an answer and believed its answer was timely. In stark contrast to that case, SC OPCO purposefully chose not to respond at all.

Fourth, correspondence sent to other defendants is irrelevant to SC OPCO's legal obligation to answer the Complaint. The Special Referee correctly held "[t]he alleged mistake of fact is failing to file an answer" and "[n]othing about correspondence or service on another party affected SC OPCO's ability to answer or appear." (R. p. 39). This case is not about what notices were given to any other party or where those notices were sent. It is, and can only be, about what notice was given to SC OPCO and whether it properly responded.

"The movant in a Rule 60(b) motion has the burden of presenting evidence proving the facts essential to entitle her to relief." *BB&T v. Taylor*, 369 S.C. 548, 552, 633 S.E.2d 501, 503 (2006). SC OPCO failed to meet this burden. Because the Special Referee's decision is supported by the law and evidence, there is no basis to find an abuse of discretion, and this Court should affirm the holding that SC OPCO failed to prove a mistake of fact under Rule 60(b). This would make it unnecessary for the Court to address the remaining factors discussed below. *Regions Bank v. Owens*, 402 S.C. 642, 649, 741 S.E.2d 51, 55 (Ct. App. 2013).

**B. The Special Referee correctly held SC OPCO did not promptly seek relief.**

The Special Referee found that SC OPCO knew about the lawsuit on January 6, 2023, and knew about the default and damages hearing on March 30, 2023, but waited until May 25, 2023—after judgment—to seek relief. (R. pp. 25-26). In finding a failure to act promptly, the Special Referee relied on the law that a "party has a duty to monitor the progress of his case." *Hill v. Dotts*, 345 S.C. 304, 310, 547 S.E.2d 894, 897 (Ct. App. 2001).<sup>6</sup>

SC OPCO argues it acted promptly because it found out about the entry of default on May 10, 2023, and filed a motion to set aside default on May 23. (Br. of App. p. 17). It does not cite

---

<sup>6</sup> SC OPCO does not argue on appeal that it did not know about the lawsuit, it only says it "learned of the *status* of the litigation through counsel." (Br. of App. p. 7) (emphasis added).

legal authority for this argument. *Equivest Fin., LLC v. Ravenel*, 422 S.C. 499, 506, 812 S.E.2d 438, 441 (Ct. App. 2018) (“When a party provides no legal authority regarding a particular argument, the argument is abandoned and the court will not address the merits of the issue.”).

Regardless, the Rules of Civil Procedure and the law “do not allow a party to ignore the legal process and then ask for relief when it does not like what happened in its intentional absence.” (R. p. 26). SC OPCO does not meet its burden to show that the Special Referee abused his discretion under the facts of this case, and this Court should affirm the finding that it failed to promptly seek relief.

**C. The Special Referee correctly held SC OPCO does not have a meritorious defense.**

SC OPCO argues it has a meritorious defense because it was not in privity of contract with Lowcountry when the Contract was entered into before SC OPCO purchased the facility. (Br. of App. p. 18). The Special Referee held SC OPCO has no defense to payment of the invoices and that alone supports finding it has no meritorious defense. (R. p. 39). He also held that it accepted services under the Contract with knowledge of it. (R. pp. 26-28). SC OPCO fails to show an abuse of discretion in those rulings.

As an initial matter, the Court should affirm under the law of the case. In the Order denying SC OPCO’s motion to set aside the default judgment, the Special Referee held: “Contract or no contract, SC OPCO has no meritorious defense to payment of the invoices for services received and for the unreturned linens.” (R. p. 26). In the Order denying SC OPCO’s motion to reconsider, the Special Referee repeated that holding and stated: “The absence of a meritorious defense to payment of invoices alone supports the rulings on mistake of fact and a meritorious defense.” (R. p. 39). SC OPCO does not challenge those holdings on appeal, and they are the law of the case. *Shirley’s Iron Works, Inc. v. City of Union*, 403 S.C. 560, 573, 743 S.E.2d 778, 785 (2013).

SC OPCO focuses only on breach of contract and ignores the quantum meruit action, as to which it “is not challenging the award of damages in the amount of the unpaid invoices for services actually received.” (Br. of App. p. 20 n.8). If it has no challenge to those damages, then it lacked a mistake and meritorious defense and should have filed an answer.

On the merits of privity, the argument is off-point because the Special Referee did not rule based on privity of contract. The Special Referee explained he “ruled based on SC OPCO’s own conduct in accepting the services with knowledge of the contract and its terms.” (R. p. 35).

The Court should affirm the ruling that SC OPCO does not have a meritorious defense.

**D. There is no successor liability issue in this case.**

In ruling on SC OPCO’s motion to reconsider, the Special Referee plainly stated: “The Court did not make a ruling based on successor liability.” (R. p. 35). Therefore, this entire issue on appeal is moot.

Even if the Court considers the argument, an analysis of SC OPCO’s arguments shows that they are irrelevant to the facts of this case.

SC OPCO cites to law about holding a successor company liable “for the debts of a predecessor company.” (Br. of App. pp. 18-19). This case is not about a predecessor company’s debts, it is about SC OPCO’s debts incurred while SC OPCO owned the facility.

SC OPCO complains that the Special Referee rejected Neuman’s assertion that it did not know the Contract terms. (Br. of App. p. 20). The Special Referee explained in detail that SC OPCO accepted the services for at least six months after buying the facility, it employed Neuman to deal with contracts and invoices, actually paid invoices, received invoices it refused to pay, and continued to employ the same facility administrator who negotiated the Contract under which it continued to receive essential, daily linen needs. (R. pp. 26-27). The Special Referee’s decision

to reject Neuman’s assertion of lack of knowledge in the face of that evidentiary support is not an abuse of discretion. *Cf. Fassett v. Evans*, 364 S.C. 42, 49-50, 610 S.E.2d 841, 845 (Ct. App. 2005) (stating an abuse of discretion occurs when an order “is without evidentiary support” (internal quotation marks omitted)).

SC OPCO complains that the Special Referee imputed Sheri Boyles’s knowledge of the Contract to it and criticizes his citation to *Equitable Tr. Co. v. Columbia Nat’l Bank*, 145 S.C. 91, 142 S.E. 811 (1928). (Br. of App. pp. 20-21). The criticism is unfounded. In *Equitable Tr. Co.*, the Supreme Court stated:

The rule now adopted in most jurisdictions is this: ***Any knowledge or information possessed by an agent at the time of acting as agent for a corporation, with respect to the matter upon which he is to act, is notice to the corporation, whenever and however such knowledge or information may have been acquired . . .*** There is no practical distinction between individual knowledge and official knowledge in such cases. In other words, if knowledge is acquired by an agent while not acting for the corporation, but afterwards he acts for the corporation in a matter in which it becomes his duty to communicate the fact his knowledge is imputed to the corporation.

*Id.* at 114, 142 S.E. at 818 (internal quotation marks omitted) (emphasis added). SC OPCO attacks this authority because it does not discuss imputing knowledge of an employee who then works for a successor corporation. The law cited is not about successor corporations. It is about employee knowledge and when the knowledge is imputed to an employer. Sheri Boyles had actual knowledge of the Contract terms and its existence while she acted as SC OPCO’s facility administrator. Therefore, her knowledge is imputed to it.

Further, SC OPCO’s argument ignores that the Special Referee held “Boyles’s knowledge is not dispositive of SC OPCO’s knowledge because . . . it independently knew about and accepted Lowcountry’s services.” (R. p. 34).

The Special Referee correctly held that successor liability is not at issue, but the evidence and law support that SC OPCO is liable for its own debts under the Contract. If it reaches the merits of this issue, the Court should affirm.

**E. The Special Referee correctly held SC OPCO’s own conduct accepted the terms of the contract.**

SC OPCO states that the Special Referee found it liable under the contract “because it had received services from [Lowcountry] but had failed to pay the corresponding invoices.” (Br. of App. pp. 21-22). It never states this proposition is incorrect. *Id.* Instead, it complains only that Lowcountry filed an exhibit in opposition to SC OPCO’s motion to reconsider and the Special Referee should not have considered the evidence. (Br. of App. p. 22). The Court should not address this issue because it is raised for the first time on appeal and unpreserved.

If SC OPCO had an objection to the exhibit, it should have raised that objection to the Special Referee. *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) (“[A]n issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.”). Instead, the Special Referee considered the exhibit without objection. SC OPCO cannot object for the first time on appeal.

Without being sure what the merits of the argument are and how the argument relates to the analysis of Rule 60(b), Lowcountry responds that SC OPCO’s conduct in accepting services does support a finding that it is liable under the Contract. “A contract is an obligation which arises from actual agreement of the parties manifested by words, oral or written, or by conduct. . . . If it is manifested by conduct, it is said to be implied.” *Hackler v. Earl Wiegand Real Estate, Inc.*, 295 S.C. 396, 399, 368 S.E.2d 686, 687 (Ct. App. 1988). SC OPCO had knowledge of the Contract. It asked for, accepted performance of, and paid for services under the Contract, thus forming a contract by its own conduct. If the Court reaches this issue, it should affirm.

**F. Prejudice is established as the law of the case.**

The Special Referee held that Lowcountry will suffer prejudice if SC OPCO is granted relief from the default judgment. (R. pp. 28-29, 40). SC OPCO does not challenge these findings of prejudice or make any argument on that factor in its appellate brief. (Br. of App.). Therefore, it is the unappealed law of the case that granting SC OPCO relief under Rule 60 would prejudice Lowcountry. *Shirley's Iron Works, Inc. v. City of Union*, 403 S.C. 560, 573, 743 S.E.2d 778, 785 (2013).

The law and evidence fully support the Special Referee's discretionary decision to deny SC OPCO's Rule 60(b) motion, and this Court should affirm.

**II. SC OPCO is legally prohibited from challenging the amount of damages.**

As an alternative argument, SC OPCO argues that, if the Court does not grant it relief under Rule 60(b), SCRCF, the damages award should be vacated and the case remanded for further proceedings regarding damages. There are two legal prohibitions to this relief.

**A. It is the law of the case that SC OPCO waived a challenge to the amount of damages.**

The Special Referee held that "SC OPCO waived the right to challenge the amount of damages by admittedly choosing not to appear at the damages hearing." (R. pp. 33, 35, 40). SC OPCO does not appeal that holding. Therefore, it is the unappealed law of the case that it waived the right to challenge damages. *Shirley's Iron Works*, 403 S.C. at 573, 743 S.E.2d at 785. The Court should reject the entire Argument Sections II and III of SC OPCO on this basis alone.

**B. It is the law of the case that, if the Special Referee correctly denied the Rule 60(b) motion, then SC OPCO is bound to and cannot challenge the terms of the contract.**

The Special Referee held that SC OPCO's "arguments on the amount of damages address liability by asserting different ways that it is not bound to the contract" terms and the "Court cannot

consider liability when SC OPCO is in default, which established that it is bound to the contract and its terms.” (R. p. 33); *Solley v. Navy Fed. Credit Union, Inc.*, 397 S.C. 192, 203, 723 S.E.2d 597, 603 (Ct. App. 2012) (“[T]he defaulting defendant has conceded liability.”). It explained SC OPCO could not “attack the enforceability of contract terms and masquerade that as a damages argument.” (R. p. 35).

SC OPCO does not appeal that holding. Therefore, it is the unappealed law of the case that it is bound to the contract terms and cannot challenge them as a damages argument. *Shirley’s Iron Works, Inc. v. City of Union*, 403 S.C. 560, 573, 743 S.E.2d 778, 785 (2013). The Court should reject the entire Argument Sections II and III on this basis alone.

**III. Even if a challenge is considered, the early termination fee award is proper.**

If the Court reaches the merits of SC OPCO’s early termination damages challenge, it should affirm the Special Referee’s award.

**A. SC OPCO is bound to the early termination fee damage.**

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